STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenwood County

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DANIEL DEMOND GRIFFIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213602

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in denying Griffin's motion to dismiss due to the unlawful stop, seizure, detention, and arrest because the sheriff's deputies had not been duly qualified to serve as deputy sheriffs pursuant to S.C. Code Section 23-13-10 and 23-13-20?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted Daniel Demond Griffin on the charges of armed robbery (AR), assault and battery first degree, and possession of a firearm during the commission of the AR. Two co-defendants, Sergio Quarles and Markus Allen, were indicted on the same charges, but were not tried jointly with Griffin. On May 8, 2012, Griffin proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Jr. All parties agreed to a bench trial. R. 7, ll. 1 – R. 8, ll. 13. Griffin was represented by Carson M. Henderson, and the state was represented by Andrew M. Hodges. Judge Hughston issued a Verdict Order finding Daniel guilty on the three as indicted on October 12, 2012. R. 377.

Sentencing was held on December 12, 2012 before Judge Hughston. The parties were represented by the same attorneys. Judge Hughston sentenced Griffin to ten years each on the AR and assault and battery first degree, and five years on the gun charge. All sentences were to be served concurrently. December 12, 2012, R. 231, ll. 17 – R. 232, ll. 18. Griffin's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Quentin Carter testified that on November 30, 2012, he had taken his two year old daughter to Zaxby's to get her food when he noticed that a white Toyota Camry with a pink sticker with "Lander Girl" on it had turned around and started following him. The car followed him to his mother's apartment. When he started to get out of the car, a black male approached him pointing a gun at him and demanded that he "give it up." Carter gave the man \$600 and two bags of marijuana. Carter had never seen the man before. The man beat Carter in the head with the gun before he ran. Carter saw only one man. He turned himself into a ball when the man started hitting him. R. 9, ll. 8 – R. 27, ll. 24.

Maranda Ethridge, sister of Carter, looked out of her window from the apartment when she heard the commotion. She saw two men beating Carter in the head. She called 911. R. 41, ll. 1 – R. 45, ll. 23.

The police put out a BOLO on the car which was shortly spotted at a convenience store by Deputy Marcus Cromer. When he initiated his blue light, they stopped and he told them who he was. Then the Camry took off with Deputy Cromer in pursuit. R. 107, ll. 23 – R. 123, ll. 25. He saw an item thrown from the right side of the vehicle. R. 126, ll. 1 – 13.

The Camry eventually crashed into the vehicle of Deputy Jimmy Boggs. At which time, Deputy Cromer saw three black males run in different directions. R. 127, ll. 1 – R. 128, ll. 22. The three were eventually arrested nearby. R. 162, ll. 1 – R. 164, ll. 25; Verdict Order, p. 2.

When arrested, Marcus Allen cooperated and gave a statement to the deputies. He testified in court as a state's witness against Appellant Griffin. R.94, ll. 1 – 25; R. 50, ll. 1 – R. 52, ll. 25. 25. Allen, Sergio Quarles, and Griffin were together on November 30, 2012 in

Allen's girlfriend's car which was a white Camry with a pink "Lander Girl" sticker on it. R. 58, ll. 22 - R. 65, ll. 25. They saw Carter, and Griffin allegedly said that Carter was a drug dealer and probably had \$5000 on him. They started following Carter. R. 65, ll. 10 - R. 68, ll. 25.

Allen's testimony was that he and Griffin had guns for protection. R. 72, ll. 1 - R. 74, ll. 7. They followed Carter to an apartment building and pulled into a parking place two spaces down from Carter. R. 70, ll. 1 - R. 72, ll. 7. Allen was the first one out of the car. He pointed the gun at Carter who threw his money on the ground. Griffin then appeared and started hitting Carter with the butt of the gun. Carter put his head down and covered up. Sergio got in the driver's seat and they left. Griffin got the two bags of marijuana. R. 75, ll. 1 - R. 81, ll. 5.

They stopped at the convenience store to get gas when the police car pulled up with blinking lights. Sergio took off in the car. Allen threw his gun out of the right side of the car, and Griffin threw his out of the left side as he was in the back seat. They eventually crashed into a deputy's car. R. 83, ll. 13 - R. 90, ll. 25. All of them ran, but Allen was caught in the woods and arrested. R. 93, ll. 1 - R. 94, ll. 20.

Griffin testified in his own defense that he did not have a gun. R. 210, ll. 1 - 23. Sergio called him from Allen's apartment on the morning of November 30, 2010 looking for marijuana. The three of them left in Allen's girlfriend's white Camry with Sergio driving. R. 197, ll. 14 - R. 202, ll. 25. Allen called "Spunk" (Victim Carter) and Griffin's opinion was that Allen made arrangements to buy marijuana. Griffin had about \$200 on him so he had money to buy. R. 204, ll. 1 - R. 205, ll. 25. They met at the apartment building, and parked

two spaces down from Carter. They could not see Carter due to the car in between. R. 207, ll. 1 – 25.

Allen got out of the Camry, and Griffin heard commotion and someone say “Get out, B.” Sergio got out of the car, and was telling Allen to “leave the man alone; get off; stop.” Sergio got Allen in the car and they left. R. 208, ll. 1 - R. 210, ll. 4.

Griffin gave a statement to the deputies. R. 217, ll. 19 – 25.

Deputy John Long testified that he searched for the guns. He found only Allen’s gun after Allen took them to it. No other gun was found. R. 184, ll. 1 – R. 186, ll. 3; R. 190, ll. 13 – R. 191, ll. 1.

Defense counsel made a motion to dismiss before the state called any law enforcement officers to testify. He presented the judge with a written copy of his motion. R. 98, ll. 11 – R. 99, ll. 17; Court’s Exhibit 1. R. 234. Counsel argued that none of the deputy sheriffs were duly qualified as deputy sheriffs at the time of the arrest. They did not have the power of arrest. Therefore, the arrests were unlawful. There was no evidence that these were citizen’s arrests. R. 109, ll. 1 – 23.

Defense counsel called the Clerk of Court for Greenwood, Ingram Moon, to testify. She testified that there were a number of oaths taken from the deputies sent to her by Judge Frank Addy, Jr.. Judge Addy included an order he signed on September 29, 2011 approving the appointment of the deputies whose oaths were sent to him by Sheriff Tony Davis. She recorded the order on September 30, 2011. R. 99, ll. 18 – R. 101, ll. 25.

Ms. Moon had been Clerk of Court for Greenwood County since 2004, and had worked in the clerk’s office since 1985. She had never seen, prior to September 30, 2013 with Judge Addy’s order, any document from anyone approving someone to be a deputy

sheriff. No bonds had been filed for anyone in the Sheriff's Office and there was no blanket bond. Judge Addy's order was the first she had ever heard of these issues. R. 102, ll. 1 – R. 105, ll. 17.

None of the oaths had been notarized which would be done when a person takes an oath. Sheriff Davis had signed them but there was nothing indicating he was a notary. R. 106, ll. 22 – R. 108, ll. 25.

The state pointed out the last paragraph of Judge Addy's order which stated that his order applied to any future deputies, current deputies, and any past appointed deputies. R. 105, ll. 18 – R. 106, ll. 15; Court's Exhibit 1, Judge Addy's Order.

Each of the deputies who testified after that said he had taken the oath and was bonded. R. 110, ll. 1 – R. 111, ll. 12; R. 117, ll. 23 – R. 118, ll. 25; R. 138, ll. 10 – R. 139, ll. 20; R. 150, ll. 22 – R. 151, ll. 22; R. 160, ll. 24 – R. 162, ll. 3; R. 172, ll. 18 – R. 173, ll. 22; R. 182, ll. 22 – R. 184, ll. 4.

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict at the close of the state's case based on the lawfulness of the arrest. R. 195, ll. 13 – R. 196, ll. 21. At the close of the sentencing hearing, defense counsel renewed all of his trial motions and moved for a new trial. He stated that he wanted to preserve the record on the issue as it related to the deputies. December 12, 2013, R. 232, ll. 1 – 18.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Griffin's motion to dismiss due to the unlawful stop, seizure, detention, and arrest because the sheriff's deputies had not been duly qualified to serve as deputy sheriffs pursuant to S.C. Code Section 23-13-10 and 23-13-20.

S.C. Code Section 23-13-10 provides that "the sheriff may appoint one or more deputies to be approved by the judge of the circuit court or any circuit judge presiding therein. Such appointment shall be evidenced by a certificate thereof, signed by the sheriff, and shall continue during his pleasure."

S.C. Code Section 23-13-20 provides:

Each deputy sheriff shall, **before entering upon the discharge of his duty**, [emphasis added], enter into bond in the sum of one thousand dollars, with sufficient surety, to be approved by the sheriff of the county, conditioned for the faithful performance of his duties and for the payment to the county and to any person of all such damages as they or any of them may sustain by reason of his malfeasance in office or abuse of his discretion. He shall, in addition to the oath of office now prescribed by Section 26, of Article III, of the Constitution, take the following oath ( or affirmation) to wit: "I will study the act prescribing my duties, will be alert and vigilant to enforce the criminal laws of the State and to detect and bring to punishment every violator of them, will conduct myself at all times with due consideration to all persons and will not be influenced in any matter on account of personal bias or prejudice. So help me, God." The form of such bond shall be approved by the county attorney and, with the oaths, shall be filed with and kept by the clerk of court for the county.

S.C. Code Section 23-13-50 provides that "when duly qualified, a deputy sheriff may perform any and all duties appertaining to the office of his principal."

A deputy serves at the sheriff's pleasure. Botchie v. Dowd, 315 S.C. 126, 432 S.E.2d 458 (1993). A deputy sheriff holds office during the term and at the pleasure of the Sheriff who appointed him. 1974-75 Op. Atty. Gen, No. 4210, p. 255.

State's Exhibit 19, which is the statement given by Griffin on November 30, 2010 (the date of arrest) was written on the letterhead of the Sheriff's Office which clearly shows that Tony Davis was the sheriff at that time. State's Exhibit 19. Supp. R. 1.

In Willis v. Aiken, 203 S.C. 96, 26 S.E.2d 313 ( 1943), the Supreme Court wrote that "many criteria may be considered, although not regarded as controlling, in determining whether one is a public officer—such as the taking of an oath, giving of a bond, and tenure and duration. The law in this state, already quoted, relating to deputy sheriffs includes all of these requirements. They are required to take the oath of office, give an official bond, and **After** [emphasis added] appointment and qualification they may perform any and all of the duties appertaining to the office of sheriff. The right, authority and duty of a deputy sheriff are thus created by statute."

In State v. Nall, 304 S.C. 332, 404 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 1991), the Court of Appeals held that except when made upon a view of the felony, a private person making an arrest must give reasonable notice of his purpose to arrest and the cause for the arrest, together with a demand that the suspect submit to arrest. What constitutes a reasonable notice depends upon the circumstances of each case.

There was no evidence presented that Griffin's arrest was a citizens' arrest. The deputies presented themselves as law enforcement officers.

The deputies had not been qualified by Sheriff Tony Davis before the arrest of Griffin which was a clear violation of the statutory law. Tony Davis was the sheriff at the time of the arrest. Therefore, the deputies did not have the power of arrest.