ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213602

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DANIEL DEMOND GRIFFIN,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 18 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's claim, that he was unlawfully arrested and entitled to dismissal of all charges because the arresting deputies were not duly qualified to serve pursuant to S.C. Code Sections 23-13-10 & 23-13-20, is not preserved for appellate review because the trial court did not rule on the substance of the claim, properly declining to do so where the judge lacked authority to disregard or set aside the order of another circuit court judge which had already addressed the appointment and qualification of the deputies. Even if preserved, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss because: (1) the evidence showed the deputies were duly qualified when they participated in Appellant's arrest; (2) even if the deputies failed to follow the strict terms of the statutes, their official acts as de facto officers were legal as to Appellant; and (3) even if the deputies were not properly qualified, dismissal was not warranted where violation of the statute does not implicate a constitutional right.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his motion to dismiss due to his unlawful stop, seizure, detention, and arrest because the sheriff's deputies who apprehended him had not been duly qualified to serve as deputy sheriffs pursuant to sections 23-13-10 and 23-13-20 of the South Carolina Code. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument should be denied and dismissed on several grounds. First, Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not ruled upon by the trial court. Second, the trial judge properly declined to rule on Appellant's argument where he did not have the authority to disregard or otherwise set aside the "General Order" previously issued by Judge Addy on September 29, 2011. Third, the trial testimony demonstrates the deputies were duly qualified pursuant to the terms of the statute when they participated in Appellant's arrest. Fourth, even if the sheriff or his deputies failed to comply with some or all of the provisions of the relevant statutes, their official acts in regard to Appellant's arrest were legal under the doctrine of de facto officers because the statutory requirements are merely directory. Finally, even if the

deputy sheriffs were not properly qualified due to their failure to comply with the strict terms of the statutes, neither exclusion of the evidence nor dismissal of the charges would have been appropriate because a violation of the statute does not implicate a constitutional right. For all of these reasons, the State submits Appellant's argument should be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

A. Argument not Preserved

Initially, the State submits Appellant's argument that the sheriff's deputies had not been duly qualified to serve pursuant to sections 23-13-10 and 23-13-20 is not preserved for appellate review because it was never ruled upon by the trial court. Under South Carolina law, an issue must be raised and ruled upon in order for an appellate court to consider the issue on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (emphasis added). Here, Appellant failed to preserve the issue regarding qualification of the deputy sheriffs because he never obtained a ruling from the trial judge addressing the substance of his motion to dismiss.

In the October 12, 2012 verdict order, the trial court specifically found: "I do not decide the issue of the appointment of [the sheriff's] deputies. Even if the deputies were not properly appointed under the statutes, the remedy would not be to dismiss these charges, or suppress any evidence entered at trial." (R.pp. 377-379) (emphasis added). After receiving the order, Appellant did not file a motion to reconsider or any other request asking the trial court to rule on the substance of his motion to dismiss. At the December 12, 2012 sentencing hearing, Appellant stated: "I would like to renew all my trial motions in the form of a motion for a new trial"; however, he did not specifically ask for a ruling from the trial judge on whether the sheriff's deputies were properly qualified

under sections 23-13-10 and 23-13-20 of the Code. (R.p.231, line 22-p.232, line 15).

Although the trial judge found dismissal of the charges would not be an appropriate remedy regardless of a ruling on the merits of the motion, he made no finding whatsoever as to whether the deputies were duly qualified in the first place. By failing to insist on such a ruling, Appellant failed to ensure his argument was preserved for appellate review. See State v. Covert, 368 S.C. 188, 200, 628 S.E.2d 482, 489 (Ct. App. 2006) (noting that it is the appellant's responsibility to make sure an issue is preserved for review on appeal).

B. No Authority to Disregard Prior Court Order

The State also submits the trial judge did not have the authority to disregard or otherwise set aside the September 29, 2011 "General Order" previously issued by Judge Addy approving the appointment and qualification of the Greenwood County deputies who participated in Appellant's arrest. In unambiguous terms, the order applies to any deputy who is, has been, or ever shall be duly hired by the sheriff, including any deputy whose name may have been misspelled or inadvertently omitted from the order, as well as any past, present or future duly appointed deputy. Judge Addy found that any of these deputies, "upon giving their oath and meeting any other requirements imposed by law or by the sheriff" would "automatically be considered approved" by the circuit court. The order was subsequently filed with the Greenwood County Clerk of Court and was not timely appealed or otherwise challenged by Appellant. At the very least, Judge Addy's order validated the appointment of the deputies by Sheriff Davis as well as their approval by the circuit court. The State submits it also validated the statutory requirements of entering into bond and taking the required oaths since no evidence to the contrary was

presented to Judge Addy. See Weathers v. State, 319 S.C. 59, 62, 459 S.E.2d 838, 839 (1995) (“Absent evidence to the contrary, the regularity and legality of the proceedings in general sessions court is presumed.”). In South Carolina, one circuit court judge may not set aside or ignore the order of another circuit court judge. Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher, 287 S.C. 602, 604, 340 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1986); Dep’t of Social Services v. Laura D., 386 S.C. 382, 386, 688 S.E.2d 130, 132-33 (Ct. App. 2010). Here, a ruling by the trial judge that the deputies were not qualified would be tantamount to setting aside or ignoring Judge Addy’s order; therefore, Appellant’s argument on these grounds should be dismissed.

C. Discussion/Analysis

To the extent this Court finds Appellant’s argument is both sufficiently preserved for appellate review and not precluded by the trial court’s lack of authority to disregard a prior court order, the State submits his argument is nevertheless without merit because: (1) the deputies who arrested Appellant were duly qualified; (2) even if not technically qualified, their actions were legal as to Appellant because the deputies were acting as de facto officers; and (3) even if not legal qualified, dismissal of the underlying charges against Appellant would not have been an appropriate remedy.

1. Standard of Review

In criminal cases the appellate court reviews errors of law only. State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 251, 639 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2006). As such, an appellate court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. “The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.” State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 533, 629 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 2006). In reviewing the appeal, the appellate court is limited

to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998); State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 653, 623 S.E.2d 122, 127 (Ct. App. 2005). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Bridges, 278 S.C.447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 230, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006), cert. denied, May 3, 2007.

2. Sheriff's Deputies were Duly Qualified

The State submits the deputies who participated in Appellant's arrest were statutorily authorized to make that arrest based upon prompt information of a suspected freshly committed crime. In addition, the trial testimony established they were duly qualified under the terms of the statute. In regard to the appointment of deputies, the South Carolina Code provides:

The sheriff may appoint one or more deputies to be approved by the judge of the circuit court or any circuit judge presiding therein. Such appointment shall be evidenced by a certificate thereof, signed by the sheriff, and shall continue during his pleasure. The sheriff shall in all cases be answerable for neglect of duty or misconduct in office of any deputy.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-10 (2007). In regard to the qualification of those deputies it provides:

Each deputy sheriff shall, before entering upon the discharge of his duty, enter into bond in the sum of one thousand dollars, with sufficient surety, to be approved by the sheriff of the county, conditioned for the faithful performance of his duties and for the payment to the county and to any person of all such damages as they or any of them may sustain by reason of his malfeasance in office or abuse of his discretion. He shall, in addition to the oath of office now prescribed by Section 26, of Article III, of the Constitution, take the following oath (or affirmation) to wit: "I further solemnly swear (or affirm) that during my term of office as county deputy, I will study the act prescribing my duties, will be alert and vigilant to enforce the criminal laws of the State and to detect and bring to punishment every violator of them, will conduct myself at all times with

due consideration to all persons and will not be influenced in any matter on account of personal bias or prejudice. So help me, God.” The form of such bond shall be approved by the county attorney and, with the oaths, shall be filed with and kept by the clerk of court for the county.

A blanket bond may be used in any county to fulfill the bond requirement of this section upon approval of the County Council and the County Attorney.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-20 (2007) (emphasis added). The South Carolina Code then explains: “When duly qualified a deputy sheriff may perform any and all of the duties appertaining to the office of his principal.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-50 (2007) (emphasis added). Finally, in regard to the power of deputies to arrest it provides: “The deputy sheriffs may for any suspected freshly committed crime, whether upon view or upon prompt information or complaint, arrest without warrant and, in pursuit of the criminal or suspected criminal, enter houses or break and enter them, whether in their own county or in an adjoining county.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-60 (2007) (emphasis added).

First, the State submits that the plain terms of the statutes do not require a sheriff’s deputy to be “duly qualified” to exercise the power of arrest. Indeed, the phrase “duly qualified” is specifically mentioned where a deputy seeks to perform the duties appertaining to the office of the sheriff but is conspicuously absent from the very next provision addressing a deputy’s power to arrest. The State submits that by failing to tie the deputies’ qualifications to the power of arrest, the legislature could not have intended the result sought by Appellant. In any event, the State submits the evidence would support a finding that the deputies were qualified.

At trial, the State presented testimony from the deputies who played a part in Appellant’s arrest. (R.p.110, line 1-p.195, line 16). Deputies Marvin Ray Watson, II, Marc Cromer, Jimmy Boggs, Jeff Graham, Derrick Smith, Amy Tyler, and John Long

each testified he or she took an oath of office under every Greenwood County Sheriff for which he or she worked, including Tony Davis. They further testified they were bonded and were working in their official capacities as deputy sheriffs when they participated in the investigation and arrest of Appellant in November of 2010. (R.p.110, line 1-p.111, line 12; p.117, line 20-p.119, line 1; p.138, line 8-p.139, line 20; p.150, line 19-p.151, line 23; p.160, line 22-p.162, line 3; p.172, line 16-p.173, line 25; p.182, line 20-p.184, line 6).

By denying Appellant's motion to dismiss, the trial court effectively found that all the deputies involved in Appellant's arrest were duly qualified pursuant to the terms of section 23-13-20. The State submits the trial testimony from the deputies themselves provided substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings; therefore, this Court is bound by those factual findings, and the denial of Appellant's motion to dismiss must be affirmed. Banda, supra.

3. Deputies' Actions were Legal under the Doctrine of *De Facto* Officers

It has been found that, "[a] person who has been duly elected sheriff and exercises the duties of the office is sheriff de facto, even though the person's bond is defective." 80 C.J.S. SHERIFFS AND CONSTABLES § 5 (2013) (citing Cooper v. Ricketson, 80 S.E. 217 (Ga. 1913). As explained by our supreme court: "The purpose of the doctrine of de facto officers is the continuity of governmental service and the protection of the public in dealing with such officers As nature abhors a void, the law of government does not ordinarily countenance an interregnum." Bradford v. Byrnes, 221 S.C. 255, 261-62, 70 S.E.2d 228 (1952). Thus, "[o]ne in office, transacting the duties, is supposed to be rightfully there, and so far as third persons are concerned, that presumption legalizes his

acts.” Kottman v. Ayer, 34 S.C.L. 92, 95 (3 Strob. 1848). Indeed, “[i]t is the appointment that confers the office The omission to qualify by giving bond or taking the oaths is cause of forfeiture; but so long as the officer appointed continues to discharge the duties of his office, his official acts, as to third persons, are legal. The law which requires the bond, or the oath, is . . . merely directory.” Id. at 94 (citing McBee v. Hoke, 29 S.C.L. 138 (2 Speers 1843));² see also State v. Toomer, 41 S.C.L. 216, 227 (7 Rich. 1854) (“The statutory provisions prescribing the manner of executing the bond, suing out the commission, or taking the oaths of office, are merely directory. . . . So long as the officer appointed continues to exercise the duties of his office, his official acts as to third persons are legal.”). The State submits any other result would be absurd.

Here, Appellant presented no evidence to suggest anyone in the Greenwood County community, from himself to his codefendants to the victim, believed the deputies were not legally qualified to effect his arrest. As set forth by the South Carolina Law Court of Appeals and Court of Errors, under circumstances where an individual was recognized by the community as an officer, “it would be attended with the most mischievous and pernicious consequences to hold his official acts, and the official acts of all who have acted under the like circumstances, to be void.” Kottman, 34 S.C.L. at 97 (3 Strob. 1848). In the absence of a showing of fraud, an individual holding an office and acting in the capacity of that office is a de facto officer and his failure to subscribe to the required oath of office will not vitiate his official acts. Davis v. Town of Cayce, 166 S.C.

² “The reason of the rule, and the rule itself, embrace every officer from the highest to the lowest. The acts of a king de facto are as binding as if he were in office by legal right, so long as those whom he governs acquiesce in his exercise of power.” Thus: “[W]here the electing or appointing power has conferred the office upon him, and he is in the actual discharge of its duties, without his title being questioned in any legal way, the community in which he lives have [sic] a right to regard him as a legal officer, and his acts, as to them, will be as valid as if he wore on his forehead, to be read by every one, the evidences of his appointment and qualification. If it were otherwise there could be no guaranty or security for the validity of the official acts of any officer.” Kottman, 34 S.C.L. at 94 (3 Strob. 1848).

372, 164 S.E. 883, 887-88 (1932). In addition, any defects in an officer's title caused by the failure to comply with the provisions of a statute, such as executing or filing a bond or taking the oaths of office within a given time frame, may be cured, "and if he be already in office, his de facto title is immediately converted into a title de jure, and has relation back to the period of his [appointment and] . . . as against all the world, is unquestionable." Toomer, 41 S.C.L. at 229 (7 Rich. 1954).

Specifically in regard to the office of sheriff, our courts have specifically applied the doctrine of de facto officers. The Court of Constitutional Law held that the Act of 1795, which required Sheriffs to give bond to the "Treasurers of the state" was: "merely directory, and . . . as long as he remained in office, he must be regarded as an officer, and his own failure to perfect his security cannot be pleaded in bar against the consequence of his misconduct, in not discharging his official duties." Stevens v. Tresurers, 13 S.C.L. 107, 109 (2 McCord 1822). Later, in discussing the office of coroner, the court stated:

It is plain, from comparing these provisions, that the office of the Sheriff is much more hedged around with obstacles to entering upon it, without giving bond, than that of the Coroner; yet, I have no doubt, that if a Sheriff were to enter upon its duties, without giving bond, that all his acts, so far as third persons are concerned, would be good. The persons confiding or transacting business to or with him, finding him in office, would have the right to say, we did not enquire by what authority he exercised it. As to them, his acts for or against them, would be good.

McBee v. Hoke, 29 S.C.L. 138 (2 Speers 1843). In Appellant's case, the deputies were clearly in office and were transacting their duties of enforcing the laws of South Carolina by arresting individuals who broke those laws. As de facto officers, their actions were legal in arresting Appellant and his argument should be dismissed.

4. Dismissal not Warranted where a Constitutional Right was not Implicated

The State submits that even if this Court concludes the deputies who arrested Appellant were not properly qualified under the relevant statutes, and their actions were therefore not “legal” as to Appellant and other third parties as de facto officers, neither exclusion of the evidence developed as a result of Appellant’s arrest nor dismissal of the underlying charges by the trial court was warranted. It is well established in South Carolina that the exclusionary rule does not apply where there has merely been a violation of a statutory privilege and does not implicate a constitutional right. Hutto v. State, 387 S.C. 244, 250, 692 S.E.2d 196, 199 (2010); see also State v. Chandler, 267 S.C. 138, 143, 226 S.E.2d 553, 555 (1976) (“[E]xclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations . . .”). Because Appellant’s challenges to the qualifications of the Greenwood County deputies were based on sections 23-13-10 & 23-13-20 of the South Carolina Code and not a constitutional violation, the exclusionary rule does not apply and, as recognized by the trial court, dismissal of the charges against Appellant was not appropriate. See State v. Goodwin, 351 S.C. 105, 110, 567 S.E.2d 912, 914 (Ct. App. 2002) (“When determining the constitutional validity of an arrest, a court must consider ‘whether, at the moment the arrest was made, the officers had probable cause to make it—whether at that moment the facts and circumstances within their knowledge and of which they had reasonably trustworthy information were sufficient to warrant a prudent man in believing that the [appellant] had committed . . . an offense.’”) (citations omitted). For this reason, and all of the other reasons set forth above, the State submits Appellant’s argument is without merit and should be denied and dismissed.

CONCLUSION